ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County

Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

DEC 08 2014

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

LEONARD EUGENE JENKINS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-001753

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge err in refusing Appellant's request to use a video tape of an interview between the prosecution's key witness and a police investigator to impeach the witness regarding her inconsistent statements about an alleged lewd act in violation of Appellant's right to confront the witnesses against him and to present a complete defense pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 13, 2013, a York County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for a lewd act upon a child. The lewd act allegedly occurred “during or about the month of May 2011 through on or about the month of August 2011.” R. 228. Assistant Solicitor Jennifer Desch called the case for trial before the Honorable Donald Hocker and a jury on August 13, 2013. Daniel Hall represented Appellant. R. 1. After a two day trial and three witnesses, the jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 219, lines 5-10. Judge Hocker sentenced Appellant to ten years’ imprisonment suspended upon the service of three years’ imprisonment and probation for three years. R. 227, lines 4-10; R. 230.

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

Violating Appellant's right to confront the witnesses against him and to present a complete defense pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, the trial judge erred in refusing Appellant's request to use a video tape of an interview between the prosecution's key witness and a police investigator to impeach the witness regarding her inconsistent statements about an alleged lewd act.

Relevant facts

Appellant, his wife, and his three children lived across the street in a double-wide trailer from Minor 1 in 2011. R. 21, lines 6-22; R. 41, lines 14-16. Appellant's daughter and Minor 1 were friends and played together often. R. 21, line 25 – R. 22, line 1; R. 24, lines 2-8. Minor 1 claimed that on an unknown day during the summer of 2011 she was playing with Appellant's daughter when the two decided to enter Appellant's house to cool down. Although Minor was unable to give a specific day, she recalled that she went to Georgia to stay with her grandmother approximately two weeks after summer started and remained there until about a week before school started again. Later, Minor 1 testified that the alleged incident occurred before she went to Georgia for the summer. According to Minor 1, Appellant, his wife, and all three of his children were in the home when the alleged touching occurred. While Appellant's daughter used the bathroom, Minor 1 sat on the couch. Minor 1 claimed that at some point, Appellant sat down on the couch beside her. Appellant, who had been holding his toddler when he entered the room, placed the toddler on Minor 1's lap. Minor 1 claimed that while she was playing with the toddler, Appellant reached over and touched her. Specifically, Minor 1 claimed

that three of Appellant's fingers went into the front of her shorts. R. 24, line 12 – R. 29, line 10; R. 34, line 21 – R. 35, line 8; R. 35, line 23 – R. 36, line 3; R. 42, lines 16-25.

Minor 1 claimed she was wearing blue jean shorts with a blue and white striped top when this occurred. Additionally, Minor 1 claimed that Appellant put his hands "right in front where the zipper is" underneath her shorts and underwear. She elaborated that this was "right in the front, not between the legs but just like right down there in the front." Minor 1 referred to this area as "the privates." R. 29, line 11 – R. 30, line 6; R. 32, lines 19-24. All of this allegedly occurred while Minor 1 still had the toddler on her lap. When Appellant's daughter walked into the room from the bathroom, Minor 1 put the toddler on Appellant's lap and walked outside. She and Appellant's daughter played for the rest of the day. R. 30, lines 9-17. Even when Minor 1 returned from Georgia later in the summer, she and Appellant's daughter continued to play together. R. 36, lines 4-7.

Minor 1 never revealed this alleged encounter to Appellant's daughter. R. 33, lines 14-24. In fact, Minor 1 told no one because she "didn't want to lose one of [her] friends that [she] had on that road." R. 35, lines 9-19. When Minor 1 turned thirteen in February of 2012, she and her mother were watching a television program about a sexual assault. When her mother advised Minor 1 to confide in her if something like that ever happened, Minor 1 "blurted it out." Her mother called the police immediately. R. 36, line 19 – R. 37, line 13; R. 39, lines 16-18. When the police arrived, Minor 1 did not write a statement; instead, her mother wrote the official statement to police without Minor 1 even present. R. 37, lines 14-20; R. 45, lines 4-14.

On cross-examination, Minor 1 admitted she was interviewed by Detective Neely and the interview was videotaped.¹ R. 38, line 20 – R. 39, line 2. When she spoke to Neely, the alleged incident would have occurred eight or nine months earlier according to her trial testimony. However, she told Neely that it occurred “two to three months ago.” In fact, she said “it happened right before school started.” When asked about this inconsistency, she explained that “it slipped [her] head because [she] was so nervous.” R. 39, line 10 – R. 40, line 7. Later, Minor 1 testified that she realized she had “slip[ped] up” regarding the date after she was interviewed by Neely or the solicitor. She did not believe that Neely or the solicitor told her she had slipped up, but she did try “to get [her] story right.” R. 46, line 5 – R. 47, line 2. Finally, Minor thought she had told Neely that she did not tell anyone what happened because of her friendship with Appellant’s daughter, but she was unable to give a definitive answer because she had not seen the video. R. 47, lines 16-23.

Additionally, Minor 1 testified at trial that she had on a blue and white top when the incident allegedly occurred, but on the video she told Neely she was wearing the top she had on at the time of the interview. R. 40, lines 16-24. When Appellant asked if the top she had on during her interview with Neely was an olive green t-shirt, Minor 1 responded, “I mean, I can’t remember exactly what the top was. It was - - it was either blue or green. I can’t really remember.” R. 40, line 25 – R. 41, line 7. Further, on the video, Minor 1 told Neely that when Appellant touched her, she had her “knees almost up to [her] chest” and her legs were spread. This contrasted greatly with her trial testimony

¹ Defense counsel proffered the video as defendant’s exhibit #2. The exhibit is on file with this Court.

that Appellant had placed his toddler on Minor 1's lap. R. 43, line 16 – R. 44, line 4. Minor 1 did not remember telling Neely that she only thought Appellant's hand had touched her. R. 48, lines 2-9. Despite the stark contrast between her trial testimony and her video interview, Minor 1 testified that she told Neely "exactly what happened." R. 45, lines 17-19.

On re-direct examination, the prosecutor emphasized that Minor 1 had not watched the video of the interview and had not discussed the video with the prosecutor. To challenge the cross-examination, the prosecutor asked: "When you are answering Mr. Hall's questions, are you just trusting he is giving you what happened or do you have a recollection of what you talked about?" Minor 1 responded, "I was pretty confused about what he was saying is what he had gotten from the report." R. 53, line 25 – R. 54, line 11. This line of questioning continued with the prosecutor asking "When Mr. Hall is asking you questions about what is in the video, do you independently remember or do you understand or trust that he is telling you what he viewed on the video?" Minor responded, "kind of what he viewed on the video." R. 54, lines 19-23.

During a break, the solicitor argued that although the video was inadmissible due to the statute and case law because Minor 1 was thirteen-years old at the time of trial, the video was admissible as a prior consistent statement to rebut an allegation of recent fabrication. However, the solicitor determined that the admissibility was limited to time and place. R. 60, line 7 – R. 66, line 8. When the judge inquired if the solicitor wanted the "whole video to come in," the solicitor responded, "It is not that I don't or I do. If he would like to put it in, he could put it in. He could put it in as a defense exhibit." R. 66, lines 13-17. After the judge ruled that portions of the video would be admissible as a

prior consistent statement to rebut an allegation of recent fabrication as long as it was limited to time and place, Appellant moved to admit the entire video pursuant to Rule 613, SCRE. Appellant argued that the video contained prior inconsistent statements made by Minor 1 and he should be permitted to impeach her with those statements. R. 71, line 7 – R. 75, line 1.

The prosecution countered that there were no “outright denials” and argued that only an “outright denial” would “trigger[] extrinsic evidence.” However, the prosecutor admitted Minor 1 repeatedly testified that she could not remember what her statements in the video had been. R. 75, line 10 – R. 76, line 24.

When Neely testified, Appellant moved to introduce the video of the interview between Neely and Minor 1 into evidence pursuant to Rule 801(d)(1)(A). Appellant explained the video contained inconsistent statements made by Minor 1. Additionally, Appellant argued that the rule of completeness required the admission of the entire video. R. 109, line 25 – R. 111, line 15. Appellant noted Minor 1’s testimony differed from the video interview in multiple respects, including the timing of the alleged incident, how she was sitting, and how the alleged touching occurred. R. 112, lines 5-25. Although the prosecutor admitted the video contained inconsistent statements, the prosecutor opposed the introduction of the video because Appellant cross-examined Minor 1 as to those inconsistencies. R. 119, lines 3-21.

The judge ruled first that Minor 1 was advised of the time and place of the statement and to whom the statement was made satisfying part of Rule 613(b). Next, the judge ruled that Minor admitted that in the video that “she had the same top on during the video.” He further found that Minor 1 admitted that she said in the video that her knees

were to her chest and that her legs were spread at the time of the alleged incident. Additionally, Minor 1 acknowledged that she did not tell anyone about the alleged incident because she did not want it to affect her friendship. However, the judge concluded that Minor 1 “neither admits nor denies telling Detective Neely that the defendant’s hand was touching her. She said she did not remember.” Based upon those findings, the trial judge ruled the video was not admissible for impeachment. R. 137, line 1 – R. 138, line 23; R. 154, lines 8-23.

Discussion

The South Carolina Rules of Evidence permit the introduction of extrinsic evidence of prior inconsistent statements of a witness when

the witness is advised of the substance of the statement, the time and place it was allegedly made, and the person to whom it was made, and is given the opportunity to explain or deny the statement. If a witness does not admit that he has made the prior inconsistent statement, extrinsic evidence of such statement is admissible. However, if a witness admits making the prior statement, extrinsic evidence that the prior statement was made is inadmissible.

Rule 613, SCRE (emphasis added); see also State v. Fossick, 333 S.C. 66, 69-70, 508 S.E.2d 32, 33 (1998)(finding error in failing to admit extrinsic evidence of a statement where the witness denied making the statement). A prior inconsistent statement may be admitted as substantive evidence when the declarant testifies at trial and is subject to cross-examination. State v. Copeland, 278 S.C. 572, 300 S.E.2d 63 (1982).

This Court observed that “[i]n determining whether a witness has admitted making a prior inconsistent statement and thereby obviated the need for extrinsic proof, the courts of our state and other jurisdictions have held that the witness must admit making the prior statement unequivocally and without qualification.” State v. Blalock, 357 S.C. 74, 591 S.E.2d 632 (Ct. App. 2003)(citing State v. Bottoms, 260 S.C. 187, 194, 195 S.E.2d 116, 118

(1973) & C.J.S. Witnesses 727 (2002)). This Court explained that “[g]enerally, where the witness has responded with anything less than an unequivocal admission, trial courts have been granted wide latitude to allow extrinsic evidence proving the statement. Id. at 80, 591 S.E.2d at 636.

If the witness neither directly admit[s] nor den[ies] the act or declaration, as when he merely says that he does not recollect, or, or as it seems, gives any other indirect answer not amounting to an admission, it is competent for the adversary to prove the affirmative, for otherwise the witness might in every such case exclude evidence of what he had done or said by answering that he did not remember.

Id. (quoting State v. Sullivan, 43 S.C. 205, 211, 21 S.E. 4, 7 (1895)).

Nothing short of an absolute unequivocal admission satisfies Rule 613(b). In Blalock, 357 S.C. at 80, 591 S.E.2d at 636, this Court held the witness’s response to questions about her prior statement did “not meet the standard of a clear and unequivocal admission that the precedent case law demands.” Acknowledging that the witness did “admit that she said the portion of the statement quoted” toward the end of the examination, this Court held such an admission was not sufficient because the witness was adamant throughout her testimony that the statement as recorded by the detective was incomplete. Id. at 81, 591 S.E.2d at 636.

Similarly, in State v. Carmack, 388 S.C. 190, 201-202, 694 S.E.2d 224, 230 (Ct. App. 2010), this Court held that a prior inconsistent statement by a witness who said his prior statement was “accurate,” that “certain details were not in his original statement because such details were not inquired into at the time and ‘everything was chaotic’” was admissible because the witness “did not unequivocally admit making a prior inconsistent statement.” In State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 523, 702 S.E.2d 395, 406 (Ct. App. 2010), this Court held the trial court properly admitted a prior inconsistent statement by a witness who

testified she “could not remember” having made the prior statement because such was “not an unequivocal admission.”

The trial judge erred in finding Minor 1’s videotaped interview with Neely was not admissible pursuant to Rule 613(b), SCRE because Minor 1 admitted all of the inconsistencies or stated she did not remember. A review of the entirety of Minor 1’s testimony reveals Minor 1 did not admit unequivocally the inconsistent statement. As an initial matter, the trial judge clearly erred in finding the video inadmissible concerning whether Minor 1 told Neely that she only thought Appellant’s hand was touching her where the trial judge concluded that Minor 1 “neither admit[ted] nor denie[d] telling Detective Neely that the defendant’s hand was touching her. She said she did not remember.” This finding required the trial judge to allow the introduction of the video as extrinsic evidence. Although the judge found that Minor 1 neither admitted nor denied telling Neely that she only thought Appellant’s hand was touching her, the transcript revealed that Minor 1 actually and unequivocally denied that statement:

Q. Do you remember telling Detective Neely on the video, that - - I think your words were, I think that his hand was touching - - do you remember saying that? You don’t remember that?

A. No.

R. 48, lines 2-5. This denial required introduction of extrinsic evidence of the inconsistent statement pursuant to the plain language of the statute and controlling case law.

Additionally, the trial judge’s other findings that Minor 1 admitted the inconsistent statement in the video were incorrect when the entire testimony is reviewed. Although Minor 1 stated that she told Neely that the alleged incident took place two to

three months prior to her interview with Neely, she explained her answer by saying “I mean, I hadn’t really a good time - - I was trying to remember exactly when it happened because I tried as best as possible, but it slipped my head because I was so nervous.” R. 39, line 19 – R. 40, line 2. Concerning her response about the telling Neely she was wearing the same top on the date of the interview as she wore on the date of the alleged incident, Minor 1 responded, “I believe so, yes.” R. 40, lines 20-24. When Appellant queried Minor 1 on the color of the shirt she wore on the date of the interview, Minor 1 responded, “I mean, I can’t remember exactly what the top was. It was - - it was either blue or green. I can’t really remember.” R. 40, line 25 – R. 41, line 7. When Appellant asked if Minor 1 had told Neely that she had not told anyone about the alleged incident because of her friendship with Appellant’s daughter, Minor responded, “I thought I had.” R. 47, lines 16-22. None of the above responses were unequivocal admissions; in fact, at least, one of the responses was an obvious and unequivocal denial and the others were clear equivocations.

Although on cross-examination, Minor 1 admitted she told Neely that her knees were almost to her chest and that her legs were spread when the alleged touching took place, R. 43, line 20 – R. 44, line 4, the state’s re-direct examination of Minor 1 revealed that even these admissions could not be construed as unequivocal admissions due to Minor 1’s lack of memory of the interview with Neely. Essentially, the re-direct examination turned the unequivocal admissions into equivocations. The state’s re-direct examination of Minor 1 reinforced and highlighted the equivocation of Minor 1’s responses relative to her prior inconsistent statements. After the prosecutor made clear that Minor 1 had not seen the video, she asked, “So the video that was taken a year and a

half ago - - when you are answering Mr. Hall's questions, are you just trusting he is giving you what happened or do you have a recollection of what you talked about?" Minor 1 responded that she was "pretty confused about what he was saying is what he had gotten from the report." R. 54, lines 5-11. Unabashed, the prosecutor continued: "When Mr. Hall is asking you questions about what is in the video, do you independently remember or do you understand or trust that he is telling you what he viewed on the video?" Minor 1 responded, "Um, kind of what he viewed on the video." R. 54, lines 19-23. Turning to Minor 1's statement on the video regarding when the incident occurred, the prosecutor asked "how narrow" was Minor 1's answer to Neely on the timeframe. Minor 1 responded that she was trying to narrow it down and told Neely all that she could remember. R. 55, lines 10-21. In response to the prosecutor's questioning on re-direct examination, Minor 1 testified that she could "not remember a lot of [the video interview] because it was about maybe - - it was just a while ago" and she could "not really remember exactly." R. 58, lines 11-21.

During the argument on the admissibility of the video interview, the prosecutor argued Minor 1 had made no "outright denials." According to the prosecutor, only an "outright denial" would "trigger[] extrinsic evidence." Therefore, the prosecutor admitted Minor 1's repeated testimony that she could not remember what her statements in the video had been were not relevant to the analysis. R. 75, line 10 – R. 76, line 24. The trial judge seemed to buy the prosecutor's argument despite clear precedent to the contrary.