ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-001753

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT

v.

LEONARD EUGENE JENKINS, .....APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-3727

KEVIN BRACKETT  
Solicitor, Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

1675-1A York Highway  
York, South Carolina 29745  
(803) 628-3020

RECEIVED

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

DEC 05 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**Appellant's claim that the trial court erred in refusing his Rule 613(b), SCRE, request to use a video recording of a police investigator's interview of the victim to impeach her credibility is not preserved for appellate review because: (1) Appellant never challenged the trial court's factual findings that the victim admitted making the allegedly prior inconsistent statements; and (2) Appellant waived his Rule 613(b) claim because he never moved to introduce the video after the State advised it would not object to any further motion by Appellant seeking admission. Furthermore, to the extent the claim is preserved, the trial court properly exercised its discretion not to admit the extrinsic evidence pursuant to Rule 613(b) where: (1) Appellant was given a full and fair opportunity to confront the victim; (2) the foundational requirements of the Rule were not met; (3) any minor inconsistencies did not impact the "essential meaning" of the prior statement; and (4) exclusion was proper pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE.**

Appellant argues the trial court erred in refusing his request to use a video recording of a police investigator's interview of the victim as extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement to impeach her credibility. He alleges certain statements the victim made during the interview were inconsistent with her testimony at trial, and contends that by ruling the video itself was inadmissible, the trial court violated his right to confront the witnesses against him and to present a complete defense pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. The State disagrees and submits Appellant's argument should be denied on and dismissed for several reasons.

#### **Issue Not Preserved for Appeal**

Initially, the State submits Appellant's argument is not preserved for appellate review because: (1) Appellant did not specifically object to or otherwise challenge the trial court's factual findings that the victim admitted making the prior statements, and

(2) Appellant waived any Rule 613(b) challenge previously argued when he failed to move to introduce the video after the solicitor stated on the record that she would not object to any further motion by appellant seeking admission.

After hearing Appellant's request to admit the video recording of the victim's interview with Detective Neely as a prior inconsistent statement under Rule 613(b), the trial court carefully reviewed a transcript of the victim's trial testimony in regard to each of Appellant's five alleged inconsistencies. The judge then ruled: "So based upon what was listed during cross-examination, I do not believe the video would be admissible for impeachment. So based upon what she admitted to in cross-examination, I think under the rules the video would not come in for impeachment purposes." (R.p.137, line 1-p.138, line 23). In other words, the trial judge acknowledged the general provisions regarding the admissibility of prior inconsistent statements pursuant to Rule 613(b), but concluded Appellant had not met the foundational requirements for admission based a factual finding that the victim admitted the prior statement. The trial judge then allowed the parties to look at the transcript together and said: "If you disagree with my summary of the testimony, then I will be glad to hear from you."

After reviewing the transcript, Appellant did not challenge the trial court's factual finding that the victim admitted making the prior statement as a whole or that she explicitly admitted the first four alleged inconsistencies. He also did not offer any argument or challenge to the trial court's conclusion that the victim's testimony of not remembering the fifth inconsistency was equivalent to an admission for purposes of the analysis. Instead, Appellant accepted the trial judge's factual findings but maintained

he had sufficiently registered his objection. (R.p.138, line 24-p.139, line 21; p.140, lines 4-14). The State disagrees and submits Appellant's objection was not sufficient in light of the court's factual finding. Appellant never articulated a particular objection to the trial court's finding that he failed to meet the foundational requirements of Rule 613(b), SCRE. This Court is bound by the trial court's factual finding because it is supported by evidence in the record. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006); State v. Manning, 400 S.C. 257, 264, 734 S.E.2d 314, 317 (Ct. App. 2012). As a result, Appellant's Rule 613(b) argument is not preserved for Appellate review.

Even after the trial judge initially excluded the video, the solicitor said: "If the defense moves it in, I will agree to have it come in . . . ." (R.p.140, line 15-p.151, line 3). Appellant then advised the trial court that when Detective Neely resumed testifying he intended to lay the foundation for the video, move it into evidence, and show the video to the jury. He repeated his desire that the entire video be admitted into evidence. (R.p.151, line 25-p.153, line 1). Appellant, however, did not move to introduce the video recording of the interview during either subsequent opportunity he had to further cross-examine Detective Neely. (R.p.155, line 4-p.158, line 25). A waiver is a voluntary and intentional abandonment or relinquishment of a known right. Janasik v. Fairway Oaks Villas Horizontal Property Regime, 307 S.C. 339, 344, 415 S.E.2d 384, 387 (1992); Bonnette v. State, 277 S.C. 17, 18, 282 S.E.2d 597, 598 (1981). A waiver may be express or implied. "An implied waiver results from acts and conduct of the party against whom the doctrine is invoked from which an intentional relinquishment of a right is reasonably inferable." Lyles v. BMI, Inc., 292 S.C. 153, 158-59, 355 S.E.2d 282, 285 (Ct. App. 1987). The State submits Appellant waived any

Rule 613(b) challenge he may have previously raised when he voluntarily chose not to seek introduction of the video recording despite the solicitor's invitation that he do so.

To the extent this Court finds Appellant's argument is preserved for appeal, the State submits it is nevertheless without merit because the trial court's decision does not implicate the confrontation clause and because the trial court properly excluded the video recording under the South Carolina Rules of Evidence.

### **Confrontation Clause**

As an initial matter, Appellant's contention that the trial court's evidentiary ruling denied his constitutional right to confront witnesses and present a complete defense is misplaced. As a general rule, a trial court's ruling on the proper scope of cross-examination will not be disturbed on appeal absent a manifest abuse of discretion. State v. Gracely, 399 S.C. 363, 371, 731 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012); State v. Quattlebaum, 338 S.C. 441, 450, 527 S.E.2d 105, 109 (2000). Pursuant to the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution, every criminal defendant has a right to "to be confronted with the witnesses against him" during trial. U.S. Const. amend. VI. Specifically included in a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to confront the witness is the right to meaningful cross-examination of adverse witnesses. State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 33, 538 S.E.2d 248, 255 (2000); State v. Graham, 314 S.C. 383, 385, 444 S.E.2d 525, 527 (1994). "The limitation of cross-examination is reversible error if the defendant establishes he was unfairly prejudiced." State v. Brown, 303 S.C. 169, 171, 399 S.E.2d 593, 594 (1991).

Appellant conducted extensive cross-examination of the victim. He asked her pointed questions regarding her interview with Detective Neely and was successful in

getting the victim to acknowledge inconsistencies between details she provided during that interview and her testimony at trial. The trial court did not impose any limits on Appellant's cross-examination of the victim and Appellant never sought to introduce the video recording of the interview, or any part of that video, during that cross-examination. (R.p.38, line 14-p.49, line 25; p.59, lines 7-11). Thus, Appellant's constitutional right to confront the victim and to conduct a meaningful cross-examination of her was fully protected at trial. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Gracely, supra; Aleksey, supra. The trial court did not interfere with Appellant's opportunity for effective cross-examination of the victim; therefore, Appellant's claims regarding the right to confront witnesses and present a complete defense under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution should be denied.

#### **Rules of Evidence**

In regard to the actual evidentiary ruling concerning Rule 613(b), SCRE, the State submits the trial court appropriately exercised its discretion to exclude the video recording as impeachment evidence because the foundational requirements of the Rule were not met. First, the victim was not adequately "advised of the substance of the statement" before she was asked to admit or deny the alleged inconsistencies; thus, the statement was inadmissible. Rule 613(b), SCRE. Second, the victim admitted making the prior statement as a whole, specifically admitted making four of the five alleged inconsistencies in the statement, and did not unequivocally deny making the fifth alleged inconsistency. Therefore, even if small portions of the victim's overall statement were inconsistent with her trial testimony, extrinsic evidence of those prior inconsistencies is inadmissible and the video recording was properly excluded. Rule

613(b), SCRE. Third, any minor inconsistencies not deemed “admitted” for purposes of Rule 613(b) did not go to the “essential meaning” of the victim’s prior statement. Thus, they were inconsequential to the jury’s assessment of the victim’s credibility and the extrinsic evidence was properly excluded. Finally, exclusion was appropriate pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE, because the probative value of the video recording was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, and because the video would have constituted a needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

### **Standard of Review**

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only and is bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). The conduct of a criminal trial is left largely to the sound discretion of the presiding judge and the appellate court will not interfere unless it clearly appears that the rights of the complaining party were abused or prejudiced in some way. State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 262, 721 S.E.2d 413, 417 (2011) (quoting State v. Bridges, 278 S.C. 447, 448, 298 S.E.2d 212, 212 (1982)). Thus, the admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial court, and the court’s decision will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 477, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011); State v. Morris, 376 S.C. 189, 205-06, 656 S.E.2d 359, 368 (2008). A decision to admit or exclude extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement will not be reversed absent a manifest abuse of discretion that prejudiced the appellant. See State v. Carmack, 388 S.C. 190, 201, 694 S.E.2d 224, 229 (Ct. App. 2010) (finding the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting extrinsic evidence of a statement where

the witness did not unequivocally admit making the prior inconsistent statement); State v. Blalock, 357 S.C. 74, 78, 591 S.E.2d 632, 635 (Ct. App. 2003) (emphasis added); see also State v. Fossick, 333 S.C. 66, 69-70, 508 S.E.2d 32, 33 (1998) (concluding the trial judge erred in excluding extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement when the witness unequivocally denied making the statement).

### **Discussion / Analysis**

Rule 613 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence provides:

Extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement by a witness is not admissible unless the witness is advised of the substance of the statement, the time and place it was allegedly made, and the person to whom it was made, and is given the opportunity to explain or deny the statement. If a witness does not admit that he has made the prior inconsistent statement, extrinsic evidence of such statement is admissible. However, if a witness admits making the prior statement, extrinsic evidence that the prior statement was made is inadmissible. . . .

Rule 613(b), SCRE. Thus, “A prior inconsistent statement may be admitted as substantive evidence when the declarant testifies at trial and is subject to cross-examination.” State v. Stokes, 381 S.C. 390, 398-99, 673 S.E.2d 434, 438 (2009).

However, unlike the federal rule, the South Carolina rule requires that a proper foundation must be laid before admitting a prior inconsistent statement. State v. McLeod, 362 S.C. 73, 81, 606 S.E.2d 215, 219 (Ct. App. 2004). Thus, “[i]t is mandatory that a witness be permitted to admit, deny, or explain a prior inconsistent statement.” Id.

When a witness specifically denies making a prior statement, it is error for the trial court to exclude extrinsic evidence of that statement as impeachment evidence, although such error may be harmless. State v. Fossick, 333 S.C. 66, 69-70, 508 S.E.2d

32, 33 (1998). Additionally, “where the witness has responded with anything less than an unequivocal admission, trial courts have been granted wide latitude to allow extrinsic evidence proving the statement.” State v. Blalock, 357 S.C. 74, 80, 591 S.E.2d 632, 636 (Ct. App. 2003) (emphasis added); see also State v. Carmack, 388 S.C. 190, 201-02, 694 S.E.2d 224, 230 (Ct. App. 2010) (holding witness did not unequivocally admit making a prior inconsistent statement; therefore, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing extrinsic evidence of the statement) (emphasis added). This wide latitude extends to a situation where a witness indicates an inability to recall or to remember a previous statement. If the witness neither directly admits nor denies the act or declaration, as when he merely says that he does not recollect, or, as it seems, gives any other indirect answer not amounting to an admission, it is competent for the adversary to prove the affirmative, for otherwise the witness might in every such case exclude evidence of what he had done or said by answering that he did not remember. Blalock, 357 S.C. at 80, 591 S.E.2d at 636 (quoting State v. Sullivan, 43 S.C. 205, 211, 21 S.E. 4, 7 (1895)).

Here, the proper foundation was not laid for the admission of the victim’s allegedly prior inconsistent statements. The victim was advised by Appellant of the time and place her prior statement was made and the person to whom it was made, and she was given the opportunity to explain or deny the statement. See Rule 613(b), SCRE. However, Appellant did not adequately advise the victim of the specific substance of the particular statements. Instead Appellant paraphrased portions of the video recording and advised the victim of the general substance of her responses to Detective Neely’s interview questions without either showing her the video or quoting

her exact words. The State submits these efforts were insufficient to comply with the mandatory foundational requirements of the Rule.

In addition, the foundational requirements were not met because the victim effectively admitted each of the prior inconsistent statements. In three of the five instances raised by Appellant the victim made an unequivocal admission of the inconsistent portions of her prior statement. In regard to the timing of the incident, the victim admitted she first told Detective Neely the incident happened only two to three months before the disclosure, but explained she said this because she was so nervous during the interview. The victim also acknowledged making a statement to Detective Neely that the incident happened “right before school started.” She then explained she thinks she meant to say it was “right before school ended,” and realized her mistake sometime after the interview. (R.p.39, line 10-p.40, line 15; p.46, lines 5-25). In both instances the victim merely explained why she gave the admittedly inconsistent statement, but she never gave “an indirect answer not amounting to an admission.” Blalock, 357 S.C. at 80, 591 S.E.2d at 636. Indeed, this is precisely the kind of post-admission explanation our supreme court found has no impact on the determination of whether a witness admitted making a prior inconsistent statement. State v. Lynn, 277 S.C. 222, 224-25, 284 S.E.2d 786, 788 (1981). In any event, the State submits that offering an explanation for an inconsistency following an admission it was made enhances rather than detracts from the impeachment value of the inconsistency, and Appellant suffered no prejudice.

In regard to her clothing, the victim admitted she told Detective Neely she was wearing the same top as the one she was wearing during the interview, which was an

olive green T-shirt rather than the blue and white one described in her testimony. She explained she could not remember exactly what top she was wearing but that it was either blue or green; however, she did not deny, explain, or equivocate in regard to making the prior statement. (R.p.40, line 16-p.41, line 9). In regard to the position of her legs, the victim admitted she told Detective Neely she had her knees up to her chest and her legs spread at the time of the incident despite her trial testimony that Gracey was on her lap just before she was fondled by Appellant. (R.p.43, line 16-p.44, line 4). Because the victim clearly “admits making the prior statement[s],” in these first three instances, the trial court properly found they were inadmissible. Rule 613(b), SCRE.

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